FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/25/2023 4:28 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/26/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 56857-8-II

102024-4

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## PARK JUNCTION LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

### PIERCE COUNTY,

Respondent

AND

TAHOMA AUDUBON SOCIETY, PETRINA VECCHIO, STEVE REDMAN, BETH REDMAN, CLARE DUNCAN MCCAHILL, DR. PETER WOODS MCCAHILL, GEORGE WERN, LEIGH WERN, BUD REHBERG, and JAMES HALMO,

Appellants.

### PARK JUNCTION LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

## I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This case involves revocation of a vested land-use approval – the most extreme and harsh remedy available in land use law. There are very few cases in Washington discussing or analyzing standards or requirements for revocation, and no case, like this one, where approval was revoked for abandonment where the owners were actively pursuing the project.

The proposed project – Park Junction Mt. Rainer Resort – has been controversial and was the subject of earlier unsuccessful appeals. Project opponents pushed hard to thwart the original project approval, and they actively challenge the project today.

In December of 2020, the County revoked the owner's conditional use permit (CUP), ostensibly because the owner narrowly missed an arbitrary "milestone" deadline during the height of the Covid-19 pandemic. The slight pandemic delay caused absolutely no harm to the environment, the County, the public, or the party opponents. Only the owner was harmed.

Pierce County sought, and the Hearing Examiner approved, revocation based on a technicality that caused no harm. Neither the County nor the Examiner even considered an alternate, less harsh remedy, though others existed.

Many cities and counties in the state have similar codes allowing revocation of vested land-use approvals, so this case has broad public significance. The decision of the Court of Appeals below opens the door to revocation even in cases where there is no environmental harm. Without standards or safeguards, revocation could be leveled at any number of projects facing local opposition. It could become a strategic tool of project opponents, as it was used here – a "next step" following the last unsuccessful appeal. It could also be used by Cities or Counties, as it was here, as a "first resort" rather than "last resort" when a deadline is missed.

This case also presents an issue of substantial public interest because it involves the inconsistent application of an emergency ordinance by a local jurisdiction during a public

health crisis. While the public health emergency of Covid-19 may have largely subsided, it certainly affected this case. But-for scheduling problems and illness associated with the pandemic, the milestone deadline would likely have been met and revocation avoided. Based on special emergency authority, the County offered extensions to virtually *all* other applicants up against a permitting deadline, but it did not offer one here. Instead, Park Junction was the *only* applicant to have its permit revoked by Pierce County during the pandemic.

It is inevitable that future health or other emergencies will occur and similar issues will arise in land use where deadlines are prevalent. Consistent application of emergency rules is required.

For the reasons discussed above and below, the Court should grant this petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

## II. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

The petitioner is Park Junction, LLC.

# III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Park Junction seeks review of the Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II filed on April 25, 2023 (Opinion). A copy of the Opinion is attached as Appendix A.

## IV. <u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. The Examiner's revocation was based in part on his conclusion that Park Junction effectively abandoned its project approval. Is this reversable error under the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) where (a) the Examiner expressly found in 2019 that Park Junction had not abandoned the project, (b) since that date, Park Junction performed substantial work on the project, and (c) there is no evidence in the record of an intent to abandon the project?
- 2. The Examiner's revocation was based in part on his conclusion that Park Junction failed to progress in a "reasonable and consistent manner." Is this reversable error under LUPA where (a) substantial work was accomplished on the project in reliance upon a prior 2019 Examiner decision, (b) the

requirements of the missed milestone were ambiguous, (c) development progress was hindered by the COVID-19 pandemic, and (d) revocation here is inconsistent with the County's prior application of its code?

- 3. The Examiner concluded that the COVID-19 pandemic did not negatively impact Park Junction's progress. Is this reversable error under LUPA where unrebutted testimony confirmed that but-for scheduling problems and illness associated with the pandemic the milestone would likely have been met?
- 4. The Examiner concluded on reconsideration that an emergency ordinance (Ordinance 2020-46) that made it a policy to grant permit extensions during the pandemic had expired and was not applicable. Did this violate LUPA when the ordinance was used by Pierce County repeatedly both before and after the Examiner's decision on reconsideration?

5. The Hearing Examiner unilaterally modified an agreed milestone. Did this result in uncertainty as to what was required to protect Park Junction's vested land-use approval?

## V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

# A. The Park Junction Mt. Rainier Resort And Its Original Approval

Park Junction owns 440 acres situated on the north side of SR 706, approximately 11 miles from the entrance of Rainier National Park. It seeks to develop a master planned resort known as the Mount Rainier Resort at Park Junction.<sup>1</sup>

Park Junction submitted its original application for the master planned resort in 1994. After an extensive review process and appeals by project opponents, including Intervenor Tahoma Audubon Society (TAS), the Hearing Examiner finally approved a CUP for the resort through decisions issued in October 2000 and January 2001.<sup>2</sup> The challenges to the project continued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 183.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 183, 259-260

through a judicial appeal by TAS, and, ultimately, the Court of Appeals upheld the Examiner's approval in August 2006.<sup>3</sup>

# **B.** The CUP Conditions For Monitoring Progress Of The Project

It was understood when the project was approved that development and construction of the Park Junction resort would take years. Under Condition 34 of the CUP approval, the County could, if appropriate in the circumstances, initiate a proceeding to revoke the conditional use permit if Park Junction failed to progress in a "reasonable and consistent manner." The CUP also required the Hearing Examiner to hold tri-annual review hearings to monitor.

## C. Park Junction's Post-Approval Development Progress And Tri-Annual Review Hearings

The project history that followed the 2006 court of appeals approval has been long and complex. The County has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 183.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 436 (Condition 34).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Id*.

acknowledged that several factors in this project make it more challenging.

Separate from the inherent complexities of a large, phased project, both the Staff and the Examiner have acknowledged that unforeseen events beyond Park Junction's control disrupted progress. Staff has recognized:

[T]here have been some very unfortunate events that have occurred during the history of this project. These certainly have had an impact:

- Two of the principal applicants passed away.
- The events of September 11, 2001, had an impact on travel and tourism nationwide.
- The great recession (late 2000s) were lost years in terms of land development.
- The global Covid-19 pandemic hit in approximately 2020, and is having an impact on everything (including, notably again, travel and tourism).<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 1552.

Staff has also acknowledged that, in the face of these challenges, "the Project Proponent has spent untold time, money and passion on this project."8

Despite these challenges, following review hearings in 2012 and 2014, the Examiner found that Park Junction was making satisfactory progress.<sup>9</sup>

# D. The Park Junction Third Status Review Hearing And The Examiner's November 2019 Decision Precipitating The Milestones

The focus of this third status hearing in 2019 was the same as the first two – whether the Park Junction project was "progressing in a reasonable and consistent manner" or was "abandoned" as provided in CUP Condition 34. 10 Condition 34 specifically provides that, following final plan approval, if

it appears that the project or phase thereof is not progressing in a reasonable and consistent manner or the project has been abandoned, action may be initiated pursuant to Section 18A.85.060 of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 1552.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> PC 184, 456-457, 477.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 183-185.

Pierce County Zoning Code (Pierce County Code, Title 18A) to revoke the approval.<sup>11</sup>

During the course of the hearing, Planning Staff requested Park Junction to articulate clear milestones for the project. <sup>12</sup> Park Junction submitted eight milestones though a memorandum from Park Junction's counsel dated October 14, 2019 and entitled Park Junction Milestones (Exhibit 31). <sup>13</sup>

Following the hearing, the Examiner issued a Third Status Hearing Decision dated November 14, 2019. <sup>14</sup> Before addressing whether Park Junction had made "reasonable progress," the Examiner noted that "[t]he applicant's project is a vested property right," and found: "No evidence in the record shows an intent by the applicant to abandon its vested right to develop the resort." <sup>15</sup>

\_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 185-186.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 1027.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 1068-1070.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 174-194.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 185.

The primary question the Examiner addressed at the third status hearing was "whether the applicant has shown that the project is progressing in a reasonable and consistent manner." The Examiner concluded that in the years following the 2014 status hearing the project had not progressed in a "reasonable and consistent manner." However, the Examiner also noted that compliance with new storm drainage, and sewer and water standards, "provides a more environmentally sensitive project," and this compliance delayed the project due to the necessity of providing updated plans. 18

The Examiner further noted that Condition 34 does not require initiation of a revocation proceeding, but instead provides that the County *may* initiate such proceedings if the circumstances are appropriate. Despite the lack of recent

\_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id*.

progress, the Examiner found that Park Junction should be allowed to continue. The Examiner found:

The applicant's plans and specific timetables are set forth in a Memorandum dated October 14, 2019 [Exhibit 31].... Should the applicant meet the deadlines and timetables specified therein and continue to obtain required permits in a timely manner (as determined by staff), then the applicant could be considered as progressing in a reasonable and consistent manner. 19 (Emphasis added.)

Considering all the relevant circumstances, the Examiner ultimately recommended that the County should not initiate a revocation action.<sup>20</sup> The Examiner concluded his Third Hearing Examiner Decision by stating:

Pierce County should consider granting the applicant an opportunity to process the project to completion in a reasonable and consistent manner by complying with the milestones set forth in [Exhibit 31] and other milestones established by pierce County staff and/or State agencies. Should any delays occur on the part of the applicant in meeting milestones/commitments or in acquiring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 193.

any State, Federal, or County permits, the County should institute revocation proceedings.<sup>21</sup>

# E. The Examiner's Subsequent Directive To Pierce County and Park Junction To Submit Additional Agreed Milestones.

Following the Third Status Hearing Decision, County Planning Staff submitted a reconsideration request to broaden the milestones beyond the eight stated in Exhibit 31.<sup>22</sup> Based on those prior discussions with Park Junction, the County stated in its request:

The County recommends that the Examiner keep the balance of the milestone issue open until February 18, 2020 ... so that the County and Applicant have time to meet and/or develop a more specific list of milestones including, but not limited to, actual construction dates for buildings and related infrastructure.

By February 18, 2020, the Applicant and/or County will submit a list of agreed to milestones to the Examiner. The milestones would then be memorialized in the Examiner's Decision itself.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 194.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 1069-1070.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 115-116.

In an Interim Decision on Reconsideration, the Examiner set a February 18, 2020, deadline for the County and Park Junction to submit milestones for inclusion in the Examiner's decision.<sup>24</sup>

# F. The Extended Process To Establish the Project Milestones.

Park Junction took the Examiner's admonitions in the Third Status Report Decision seriously; it understood that its project was in peril. Park Junction thus diligently engaged with the County to formulate agreed milestones as the Examiner directed.

The task of creating the milestones was complex. The County requested several extensions in early 2020, explaining that "for a project of this size/scope, there are a lot of moving parts/pieces to consider."<sup>25</sup>

<sup>25</sup> CP 144.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 135.

On March 30, 2020, the County provided the Examiner with a status report and communicated that the County and Park Junction had preliminarily agreed to milestones.<sup>26</sup> But the County also foreshadowed that, because of the Covid-19 pandemic, yet another extension may be required to finalize the milestones.<sup>27</sup>

Ultimately, due to extended negotiations and the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, the County did not submit the proposed milestones until September 16, 2020, which apparently were not received by the Examiner until October 6, 2020.<sup>28</sup> The County informed the Examiner that Park Junction agreed to the presented milestones, and it requested the Examiner to consider the milestones for approval.<sup>29</sup>

Relevant to this appeal, the agreed milestones included milestones to construct "mitigation wetlands" generally, but also

<sup>26</sup> CP 146.

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 88, 1439-1445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 155.

of the test wetlands is to determine if the mitigations wetlands will function as anticipated *before any construction that requires wetland mitigation even occurs*. Park Junction would literally be taking action to mitigate potential wetland impacts before any actions that may cause actual impacts occur. This mitigation-first approach is unusual and showed good faith by Park Junction.<sup>30</sup>

Specifically, the agreed milestones included in the County's September 16, 2020 letter included Milestone 2.A(1)(a), which provided in relevant part:

#### 2. Activities and Milestones 2020

. . .

(1) By October 30, 2020, preliminary wetland mitigation work described below, including the grading work required for the construction of the wetlands.... Such requires the following:

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 171.

(a) <u>Some or all</u> of the mitigation wetlands shall be physically constructed. <sup>31</sup> (Emphasis added.)

Park Junction understood the above "Agreed Milestone" to require construction of one of the two planned "demonstration wetlands" as opposed to other mitigation wetlands.

## **G.** The Wetland Mitigation Milestones.

The Examiner issued his decision on the proposed milestones through the Final Decision on Reconsideration dated October 28, 2020 (Reconsideration Decision).<sup>32</sup> The Examiner adopted the agreed upon milestones, including Milestone 2.A(1)(a), but with revisions hereinafter to be referred to as the "Revised Milestone." Language modified by the Examiner is in bold and italics:

#### 2. Activities and Milestones 2020

. . .

(1) **By November 30, 2020**, [continued one month due to the date of this decision] preliminary wetland mitigation work

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 2789-2790.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP 87-99.

described below, including the grading work required for the construction of the wetlands.... Such requires the following:

(a) *A majority or all* of the mitigation wetlands shall be physically constructed. <sup>33</sup> (Emphasis added.)

Thus, the language was changed from "Some or all of the mitigation wetlands shall be physically constructed" to "A majority or all of the mitigation wetlands shall be physically constructed."

The Agreed Milestones submitted by the County on September 16, 2020, were the product of months of discussions with the involvement of numerous parties and experts.<sup>34</sup> Despite that process, the Examiner did not conduct a hearing or present any other forum for the parties to comment on his revision. Thus, the revisions were made without input regarding their potential impact on the feasibility to timely satisfy the Revised Milestone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> CP 170.

Significantly, the Reconsideration Decision provides that each milestone, including the Revised Milestone, is "mandatory and fixed,"<sup>35</sup> which was not how they were presented to the Examiner. In the Third Status Hearing Decision, the Examiner found that, upon meeting the milestones as originally proposed by Park Junction in Exhibit 31, Park Junction "could be considered as progressing in a reasonable and consistent manner."<sup>36</sup> In the Reconsideration Decision, the Examiner expanded the standard for compliance. The Examiner inflexibly imposed enhanced milestones, which he modified without input from Park Junction, as "mandatory and fixed."

The potential ramifications of this could not be underestimated. Now, a minor shortfall on a single milestone could lead to a revocation proceeding. The imposition of "mandatory and fixed" deadlines was even more unreasonable when one considers they were imposed at the height of the

<sup>35</sup> CP 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 192.

Covid-19 pandemic and issued only 32 days before the first mandatory and fixed Revised Milestone had to be satisfied.

# H. Park Junction's Efforts to Satisfy the Wetland Mitigation Milestone.

From late 2019 through 2020, separate from its work negotiating the milestones, Park Junction worked diligently to comply with the guidance provided in the November 2019 third status hearing Decision, including advance work to meet the anticipated milestones they were negotiating.

Park Junction submitted a revised wetland delineation, which significantly reduced the wetland impact area,<sup>37</sup> and also submitted the final wetland mitigation plan for the entire site to the County on May 4, 2020.<sup>38</sup> In addition, Park Junction submitted engineering plans, a drainage report, and the required Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan for the test wetland grading in the Spring of 2020.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CP 2332-2333, 3714-3715.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> CP 1568, 2550-2769, 3732.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 1755-1876.

In July 2020, Park Junction received County Wetland Approval, allowing it to construct the test wetlands. 40 Grading plans were submitted, which the County approved on July 24, 2020. 41

Between July and September of 2020, Park Junction staked the demonstration wetland areas, installed erosion controls, and dug test pits.<sup>42</sup> It also purchased approximately \$40,000 of bentonite clay in the Summer of 2020 and spent over \$10,000 on a special machine to evenly apply the clay.<sup>43</sup>

When the approvals were finally in hand in early August of 2020, Park Junction attempted to engage a contractor who had the equipment and experience to construct the large demonstration wetlands. The work itself was not expected to take

<sup>40</sup> CP 1671, 1568.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> CP 1747-1754.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> CP 3905, 3933, 3935, 3973.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> CP 3933-3935. *See also*, photos at CP 2360-2362.

too long. Once all equipment was in place, weather permitting, the work should have only taken a couple weeks.<sup>44</sup>

Unfortunately, Park Junction then ran into a problem in the form of the busy 2020 construction season. Following the government shutdown, which halted construction activity, the industry was faced with a significant backlog when work was allowed to recommence.<sup>45</sup>

The high demand created big problems for Park Junction, as the only contractor who had the equipment and experience necessary to do the work and was willing to come to the remote location was in Lewis County was already very busy with other jobs. 46 Initially, the contractor said he could not schedule the work until January of 2021. However, a window of opportunity opened, and the contractor scheduled the work for October. 47 The work was delayed due to the contractor's difficulties obtaining

<sup>44</sup> CP 3930-3932, 3934.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> CP 3850, 3906-3907.

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