FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/23/2023 2:48 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102024-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 56857-8-II

PARK JUNCTION LLC

Petitioner,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY,

Respondent,

AND

TAHOMA AUDUBON SOCIETY, PETRINA VECCHIO, STEVE REDMAN, BETH REDMAN, CLARE DUNCAN MCCAHILL, DR. PETER WOODS MCCAHILL, GEORGE WERN, LEIGH WERN, BUD REHBERG, and JAMES HALMO,

Respondents.

OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4(b), review will be accepted only if the Court of Appeals' ruling is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of constitutional law is involved, or the petition involves a substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Park Junction does not cite a single case that is inconsistent with the Court of Appeals decision here. Instead, it contends that "there is no Washington case law on this issue." Pet. for Review at 29. Thus, the standards of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) are admittedly not met—the decision is not in conflict with any decision, much less a published Court of Appeals decision or decision from this Court. (The Court of Appeals decision in this matter is also unpublished.) Park Junction also does not allege that any constitutional questions are at play, foreclosing review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3). Accordingly, this Court can only accept review if it concludes that Park Junction has raised

"an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). It has not done so.

Park Junction's proposed issues for review all invoke not open questions of law but application of established law to its own preferred alternative version of the facts. In considering a Petition for Review, this Court should "decline to consider facts recited in the briefs but not supported by the record." *Sherry v. Financial Indemnity Co.*, 160 Wn.2d 611, 615-16 n.1, 16 P.3d 31 (2007); *see also In re Dependency of Panilla P.B.*, 104 Wn.2d 643, 660, 709 P.2d 1185 (1985) ("[W]e cannot consider matters referred to in the brief but not included in the record.").

A. Park Junction Asks This Court to Adopt New Rules Without Any Basis in Statute or Case Law

Park Junction first discusses permit revocation in general and proposes that the Examiner should have utilized a different remedy. Park Junction suggests that this Court should adopt a new standard that revocation may only be implemented when there are no other options or if the permittee agrees to it. Park

Junction's proposed test would eviscerate the ability of any jurisdiction to ever a revoke a permit.

Park Junction frankly admits that it is asking this Court to manufacture a new "implicit" rule—that revocation should only be a last resort—from thin air because it understands that straightforward application of the Pierce County Code and its CUP required revocation in this case.

Park Junction does not dispute that PCC 18.150.050(B) and (D) were the Examiner's bases for revoking its CUP. Yet it does not cite any authority or even propose any interpretation of either of those provisions that would render the Examiner's decision erroneous under LUPA. It does not include the relevant code language because it knows that *any* interpretation of those sections provided for revocation. Subsection (B) provides for revocation where "the use for which [an] approval or permit was granted is not being exercised." PCC 18.150.050(B). Subsection (D) provides for revocation where "the approval or permit granted is being, or recently has been, exercised contrary to the

terms or conditions of such approval or permit, or in violation of any statute, resolution, code, law, or regulation." PCC 18.150.050(D). These provisions are consistent with the law in this state that failure to comply with express permit terms may result in revocation. *See Bonneville v. Pierce County*, 148 Wn. App. 500, 202 P.3d 309 (2008).

Relying on Andrew v. King County, 21 Wn. App. 566, 572, 586 P.2d 509 (1978), Park Junction characterizes its revocation as premised on "abandonment" of its permit, seeking to invoke an irrelevant body of case law concerning vested rights to nonconforming property uses. See Pet. for Review at 30-31. for Andrew analyzed the standards abandonment discontinuance of a nonconforming use with regard to zoning laws. 21 Wn. App. at 570-71. It had nothing to do with the code provisions at issue here. The word "abandonment" does not appear anywhere in PCC 18.150.050(B) and has never had anything to do with Park Junction's CUP revocation.

As the Court of Appeals ruled in this case, "PCC 18.150.050(B) plainly does not require a showing of abandonment. It only requires a showing that the permit holder is failing to use the permit as intended." Slip Op at 15. Park Junction does not even challenge this portion of the decision or provide any statutory interpretation or analysis to do so—it prefers to assume the Court of Appeals is wrong and that "abandonment" in the nonconforming use sense is the relevant standard.

As to PCC 18.150.050(D), Park Junction does not propose any interpretation of the Code under which a permit-holder should be allowed to ignore the requirements of its permit. Instead, it abandons any pretext of relevant legal questions to submit to this Court and essentially admits that its challenge is purely factual. Pet. for Review at 30 ("No one could fairly say that Park Junction . . . failed to make reasonable and consistent progress in 2020.") *cf.* CP at 1528.

B. Park Junction Fundamentally Misstates the Record

Even if this Court were to entertain Park Junction's total departure from the local code provisions it asks this Court to interpret, its claim for review is based on a characterization of the facts that is utterly inconsistent with the Examiner's findings and the evidence in the record. Put another way, even if Park Junction's "implicit" rule existed, application of that rule would still result in revocation of Park Junction's CUP.

LUPA is clear that, to obtain reversal of a land use decision based on erroneous fact-finding, Park Junction would have to show that the decision "is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c). "Substantial evidence is evidence that would persuade a fair-minded person of the truth or correctness of the matter." *Erection Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 160 Wn. App. 194, 202, 248 P.3d 1085 (2011). The Court's review "necessarily entails acceptance of the factfinder's views regarding the credibility of witnesses and the

weight to be given reasonable but competing inferences." *City of University Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001) (quoting *State ex rel. Lige & Wm. B. Dickson Co. v. County of Pierce*, 65 Wn. App. 614, 618, 829 P.2d 217 (1992)).

The Examiner ruled in November 2019 that Park Junction was out of compliance because it had not "progressed in a reasonable and consistent manner" towards completion of its resort project. CP at 2234. After providing Park Junction the chance to come back into compliance by setting and meeting project milestones, Park Junction "agreed to construct two test wetlands" as the first milestone. Id. at 1528. Park Junction missed this "first and probably easiest of all milestones." Id. at 1530. Its missed deadline "postponed the ability to install the bentonite liner and monitor the wetland for a full year . . . represent[ing] another significant delay." *Id.* at 1528. Revocation was not based exclusively on missing the "first and easiest milestone, but also in light of [Park Junction's] progress over the past 20 years" given its "history of excuses and mismanagement that previously delayed the project." *Id.* at 1524.

To the extent Park Junction claimed it believed it was required to complete only a single wetland, the Examiner found that the "evidence conclusively establishe[d] that from the beginning of negotiations, [Park Junction] agreed to construct two test wetlands." *Id.* at 1528; *see also* CP at 1672, 4012 (support for this finding in the record before the Examiner). Further, Park Junction did not even successfully complete *one* test wetland by the deadline. CP at 3827.

Park Junction "never contacted [the County] to request a delay in completion of the wetland work, never advised [the County] that it would be late, and presented testimony (from the project manager) that [Park Junction] completed the work only one day late, when such was obviously not true." *Id.* at 1529-30.

Park Junction also mischaracterizes the basis for the revocation of its permit. It alleges that "[n]o one could fairly say that Park Junction abandoned its project or failed to make

reasonable and consistent progress in 2020. That leaves the fact that Park Junction narrowly missed the deadline for the wetland milestone as the *sole* basis for revocation." Pet. for Review at 30. But it was the milestones (originally proposed and agreed-to by Park Junction) that were themselves the standard to measure "reasonable and consistent progress." Because Park Junction had already failed to demonstrate reasonable and consistent progress a year earlier at the time of the 2019 decision, the milestone represented Park Junction's final opportunity to come back into compliance with its permit. If it had constructed the two test wetlands and continued to meet milestone deadlines, the meeting of those deadlines would have demonstrated the progress necessary to come back into compliance.

Park Junction alleges that the Examiner failed to justify "going right to the most extreme remedy" of revocation "over modification or sanctions or some other alternate remedy." Pet. for Review at 29. It claims: "From 1 to 10 on the harshness scale, they went straight to 10." *Id.* The revocation was based not on a

single missed deadline, but on Park Junction's "lack of performance over the past 20 years as set forth in the Report and Decision for the [November 2019] Third Status Review and as continued by its failure to meet the first milestone, granting yet another opportunity to bring the project into compliance." *Id.* at 1532.

Park Junction purports to fear that "revocation could become a regular strategy tool of project opponents—a 'next step' following the last unsuccessful appeal" to "undermine the finality that is the very hallmark of LUPA." Pet. for Review at 34 (citing *Samuel's Furniture v. Dep't of Ecology*, 147 Wn.2d 440, 458, 54 P.3d 1194 (2002)). It is unclear what Park Junction's fear has to do with this case. No party to this matter reopened a final decision; nor does any portion of the Court of Appeals decision provide any kind of "backdoor" process. The Examiner conducted a triennial review hearing, as provided for by Park Junction's permit, and found Park Junction out of compliance. CP at 2171, 2234. At the conclusion of that hearing,

the Examiner ruled that Park Junction had entirely failed to do any work towards completion of its project. *Id.*at 2234. Instead of revoking Park Junction's CUP, the Hearing Examiner allowed it a chance to come back into compliance *instead* of revoking the permit. Only after Park Junction failed to meet even the first milestone twenty years after the project commenced did the Examiner revoke the permit.

C. <u>Park Junction Relies on a Single Out-of-State Case</u> that Affirmed Permit Revocation

Park Junction relies on a single out-of-state case for its proposition that revocation is "harsh" and "should be used only as a very last resort": *Korean Am. Legal Found. v. City of Los Angeles*, 23 Cal. App. 4th 376, 28 Cal. Rptr. 2d 530 (1994). That case would not help Park Junction even if it were the law in Washington. That case required that, once a party has obtained and relied upon a "vested right" such as a permit for alcoholic beverage sales, the government may not simply revoke it without basic procedural due process protections. *Id.* at 391 n.5; *see also*

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976) (requiring basic principles of due process including "some form of hearing" before deprivation of a property right). There is no dispute that Park Junction's revocation followed an extensive fact-finding hearing at which Park Junction called numerous witnesses and submitted hundreds of pages of exhibits. Park Junction cannot credibly (and does not seem to) contend that its permit was revoked without due process of law.

Park Junction's reliance on the case appears to stem from the court's offhand reference to revocation as "a very harsh remedy which requires the strictest adherence to principles of due process." *Korean Am. Legal Found.*, 23 Cal. App. 4th at 379 n.5. Again, Park Junction does not tie this general principle to any applicable standard of law—it simply complains that it believes revocation is harsh in the abstract. In makes no effort to show how any result other than revocation would be appropriate under the relevant provisions of LUPA and the PCC.

D. <u>Interpretation of a Local Code Does Not Present an</u> <u>Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should be</u> Determined by the Supreme Court

Park Junction does not offer any analysis into the actual PCC provisions that are determinative of this case. But even if it did, questions of county code interpretation are not matters of "substantial public interest" necessitating review by the Washington Supreme Court.

In an effort to persuade the Court otherwise, Park Junction alleges that "[m]any other cities and counties have similar codes allowing for revocation of vested land-use approvals." Pet. for Review at 34 (citing Puyallup Municipal Code 20.80.040; Seattle Municipal Code 23.76.034; Thurston County Code 26.05.070). Park Junction is correct that the respective codes of these jurisdictions provide for permit revocation in certain circumstances. But the language of two of Park Junction's three examples is completely different from the PCC language. *Cf.* PCC 18.150.050 *with* Seattle Municipal Code 23.76.034 *and* Thurston County Code 26.05.070; *see also* King County Code §

21A.50.040 *and* Snohomish County Code § 30.85.310. If Park Junction is aware of some source of law that renders all local code provisions requiring compliance with permit conditions unlawful or unenforceable, it has failed to cite it to the Examiner, in its LUPA Petition, or at any level of appellate review.

E. This Court Should Deny Review of Park Junction's Additional Issues Presented for Review That Are Unsupported by Any Argument in Its Petition

Finally, Park Junction purports to present three issues for this Court's review for which it provides no supporting argument. Pet. for Review at 5-6 (Issues 3-5). Among those issues are another direct challenge to the Examiner's factfinding, an allegation that the County was required to provide deadline extensions that were never requested, and a challenge to the Examiner's authority to offer the very same "modification" remedy Park Junction states should have superseded revocation. *Id.* Because Park Junction provides no actual argument supporting review of any of these questions, this Court should deny review of them.

First, Park Junction challenges the Examiner's findings of fact that Park Junction contractors "had no issues with completing the ponds in spite of the Covid pandemic" and that "testimony from all witnesses, including [Park Junction's] experts, agree[d] that [Park Junction] had ample time to construct the two test wetlands, but failed to do so." CP at 1528, 1532. As with its other factual challenges, a routine application of LUPA's "substantial evidence" standard does not present a compelling question of substantial public interest.

Second, Park Junction contends that it should have been entitled to an extension of the milestone deadline based on Pierce County Ordinance 2020-46, which provided permit extensions during the pandemic. Pet. for Review at 5. Park Junction does not dispute the Court of Appeals ruling that it "did not communicate with Pierce County or request any extension until after it had missed its milestone deadline," nor that "the ordinance allowed extensions of deadlines" but "did not require extensions or make them automatic." Slip Op. at 21.

Furthermore, "[f]ewer than two months before the deadline, Park Junction's attorney assured the hearing examiner that the company could 'meet the submittal dates' and that the test wetlands were 'under construction.'" *Id.* at 18 (quoting CP at 1933). Whether a county is required to extend deadlines without any request to do so in the face of assurances that a project is on track does not present a question of substantial public interest.

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